
 

Mebane City Council - Virtual Meeting  

May 4, 2020- 6:00 PM  

 Glendel Stephenson Municipal Building 
Council Chambers 

106 E. Washington Street 
Mebane, NC 27302 

 

The City Council meeting on Monday, May 4, 2020 at 6:00 p.m. will be held virtually.  For those wishing to 
view the meeting via YouTube live stream, please visit the following link: 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCoL1RXdRDMzK98p53TMoqww 

Below is information for those interested in participating in the Public Comment Period. 

Request to Speak During Public Comment Period by Remote Access 
 at the Monday, May 4, 2020 City Council Meeting 

The City of Mebane will be maintaining measures in its ongoing effort to mitigate the spread of COVID-
19. These measures include barring physical attendance at the meeting, employing social distancing, and 
implementing remote participation. The following procedures have been put in place to provide the public 
with the ability to address the City Council during the Public Comment Period by remote access.   

• A Public Comment Period, not to exceed thirty minutes, will take place at the beginning of the 
meeting. Individual comments are limited to three minutes. 
 

• Those that wish to address the City Council during the Public Comment Period have two (2) 
options.  Emailed comments (Option #1) will be read aloud first and addressed by Council if 
response is warranted.  Should time allow, registered participants (Option #2) will be given the 
opportunity to address the Council via Zoom.   

Option #1 

• Email comment to info@cityofmebane.com  by Monday, May 4, 2020 at 2:00 p.m. 

• Messages must be labeled Public Comment in the subject line and must contain commenter’s 
name and address. 

• Comments will be read aloud by the City Clerk and are subject to the time limits set by the Public 
Comment procedures. 

Option #2 

• Email info@cityofmebane.com by Monday, May 4, 2:00pm to speak during the Public Comment 
Period. When email is received, an email will be sent with instructions on how to register and 
speak during the Public Comment Period. 

• Messages must be labeled Public Comment in the subject line and must contain commenter’s 
name and address. 

• Registered participants will be given an access code to speak at the meeting via Zoom, a remote 
conferencing service. 

• Callers will be held in queue and asked to mute their phones or speakers until they are called on 
to speak. 

• Speakers will be called in the order in which they are registered. 

• Per authority of NCGS 143-318.17, if a person participating remotely willfully disrupts the Council 
meeting, then upon direction by the Mayor, such person may be removed from electronic 
participation, or his or her e-mail may not be read. 

 

http://www.google.com/maps?f=l&hl=en&q=200+West+5th+Street%2c+Greenville%2c+North+Carolina+27834
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCoL1RXdRDMzK98p53TMoqww
mailto:info@cityofmebane.com
mailto:info@cityofmebane.com


Council Meeting Agenda 
May 4, 2020 

6:00 p.m. 

1. Call to Order and Invocation ....................................................................... Mayor Ed Hooks 

2. Council Meeting Remote Participation Policy ............. Chris Rollins, Assistant City Manager 

3. Public Comments ........................................................................................................ Mayor 

4. Consent Agenda .......................................................................................................... Mayor 

a. Approval of Minutes – March 2, 2020 – Regular Meeting 
b. Petition for Voluntary Contiguous Annexation- Celine Meador- The White House 
c. Petition for Voluntary Contiguous Annexation- Hendon Tiller Properties, Lot 3 
d. Recombination Plat for Easement Removal on Emerson Drive 
e. Contract for 2019-20 Audit 

 
5. Manager’s Recommended Budget 2021 .................................... David Cheek, City Manager 

6. Capital Improvement Plan 2021-2025 ............................................................. City Manager 

7. Adjournment ............................................................................................................... Mayor 



 

AGENDA ITEM #2 
Council Meeting Remote 
Participation Policy 

Meeting Date 
May 4, 2020 

Presenter  
Chris Rollins, Asst. City Manager 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

Summary 
During the Coronavirus crisis it has become evident the City Council Members may occasionally need to 
attend council meetings remotely. If passed, the remote participation policy is needed during City or State 
declared times or during times personal emergencies  

Background 
North Carolina General Statue §143-318.10 (d.) defines "Official meeting" as “a meeting, assembly, or 
gathering together at any time or place or the simultaneous communication by conference telephone or 
other electronic means of a majority of the members of a public body for the purpose of conducting 
hearings, participating in deliberations, or voting upon or otherwise transacting the public business within 
the jurisdiction, real or apparent, of the public body.”  There are multiple blogs and memos concerning this 
topic and attached is the latest from N.C. Attorney General Jeff Stein.  This is a very safe first step that may 
need to be amended in the future depending on new legislation or guidance.   

Financial Impact 
None 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends approval of the policy as presented. 

Suggested Motion 
I make a motion to approve the Remote Participation Policy  

Attachments 
1. Remote Participation Policy 
2. Open Meetings – Josh Stein Advisory Letter 

 



 

 

Members of the Mebane City Council may remotely participate in briefings and official meetings of the 
City Council as outlined below in Section 1 or during times of emergency. Times of emergency happen 
when the Governor of the State of North Carolina has declared a state of emergency pursuant to N.C.G.S. 
§166A or the Mayor of the City, or his successor in rank, has declared a state of emergency in the City of 
Mebane pursuant to N.C.G.S. §166A-19.22 and Mebane City Code Chapter 12, subject to the following 
rules and procedures: 
 

1. Remote participation may be used only in very limited circumstances.  For purposes of this policy, 
the Mayor, Mayor Pro-tem, and Councilmembers shall be collectively referred as 
“Councilmember(s)” or the “City Council.”  A Councilmember desiring to participate in a meeting 
remotely must assert one or more of the following reasons for being physically unable to attend 
the meeting: 

a. Personal illness, disability, or threat thereof; or 
b. Family or other emergency; or 
c. Governmental order. 
 

2. Remote participation may be allowed only during open sessions when a quorum of the City 
Council is physically present at the meeting and the Councilmember participating remotely is not 
necessary to establish a quorum. 
 

3. Remote participation shall not be allowed during quasi-judicial hearings.  
 

4. Remote participation shall be allowed during closed sessions of the City Council provided that 
the Councilmember participating remotely is in such a location and environment to assure the 
confidentiality for which the purpose of the closed session is called pursuant to N.C.G.S. §143-
318.11.  A Councilmember participating remotely shall participate via simultaneous and/or 

 

POLICY STATEMENT 
 
 
 

 PAGE  1 OF 2 
 

SUBJECT:    
 
REMOTE PARTICIPATION POLICY FOR 
MEETINGS OF THE MEMBERS OF THE CITY 
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MEBANE, NORTH 
CAROLINA 

EFFECTIVE DATE:    
 
May 4, 2020 

 SUPERSEDES:  N/A 

 

PREPARED BY: 
Chris Rollins 

 ADOPTED BY COUNCIL 
DATE:  



 

electronic communication and must be fully heard by other members of the City Council present 
in the closed session. 
 

5. A Councilmember desiring to participate in a meeting remotely must notify the City Clerk of the 
need for his or her remote participation at least 24 hours prior to the start of the meeting unless 
advance notice is impractical.   

 
6. At the start of the meeting, the presiding official, be it the Mayor, or Mayor Pro-tem, or presiding 

Councilmember, shall announce that a Councilmember is participating remotely.  Such 
Councilmember shall identify himself or herself and state the reason that he or she is 
participating remotely. 

 
7. A Councilmember participating remotely shall be allowed to participate in all open session 

discussions and deliberations except for quasi-judicial hearings.  A Councilmember participating 
remotely under the policy shall vote on matters, except where otherwise ethically conflicted and 
allowed to recuse himself or herself by a vote of the City Council. 

 
8. A Councilmember participating remotely shall be provided with documents to be considered by 

the City Council during the meeting, i.e. the agenda packet. 
 

9. A Councilmember participating remotely shall participate via simultaneous and/or electronic 
communication and must be fully heard by other members of the City Council present in the 
meeting and any other individuals in attendance at the meeting.  Use of telephone, internet, or 
internet enabled audio or video conferencing, or any other technology that enables the remote 
participant and all persons present at the meeting location to be clearly audible to one another 
is necessary.   

 
10. A Councilmember participating remotely shall provide a voice vote which can be heard and 

recorded. 
 

11. A Councilmember participating remotely shall not serve as the presiding official of the City 
Council meeting. 
 

12. If a City Councilmember participating remotely is disconnected, the presiding official will call for 
a brief recess for the member to be reconnected via phone or other electronic means.   
 

13. If disconnected member is not reconnected the presiding official will call for a vote from that 
member to be excused from the meeting.  Any Councilmember who does not vote and has not 
been excused is counted as affirmative. 
 

14. As with all meetings being made available to the public, the City shall always comply with 
statutory requirements of notice, access and minutes 

 



WWW.NCDOJ.GOV 114 W. EDENTON STREET, RALEIGH, NC 27603 919.716.6400 
 P. O. BOX 629, RALEIGH, NC 27602-
0629   

 

 
JOSH STEIN 

ATTORNEY GENERAL 

 
 

 
SHANNON CASSELL 
SPECIAL COUNSEL 
(919) 716-6425 

   

March 26, 2020 

 
Greg McLeod 
Deputy General Counsel, Office of the Governor  
20301 Mail Service Center  
Raleigh, NC 27699-0301 
 
RE: Advisory Letter Regarding the Ability for Local Public Bodies to Conduct Open Meetings 

Electronically  
 
Dear Greg, 
 

I write with regards to the request from your office for us to weigh in on the issue of whether local 
governing boards can carry out their meetings electronically and remain in compliance with Open 
Meeting Laws.  This question comes on the heels of federal and state executive orders directed at 
preventing the spread of COVID-19 by significantly limiting – if not prohibiting – the ability to gather in 
person, yet governing must continue at all levels of state and local government.   
 
QUESTION PRESENTED:  
 

Can local governments carry out their necessary meetings via electronic means during these exigent 

circumstances? 

BRIEF ANSWER:  
 

Yes, because electronic meetings are allowed under N.C.G.S. §143.318.13, and the requirements of 

notice, access and minutes can be met through electronic means.  Due to the unprecedented 

circumstances we are all faced with, and the fact that local governing bodies conducting meetings 

remotely is not expressly prohibited by statute, I conclude that local governments can carry out 

necessary meetings electronically and remain in compliance with Open Meetings Laws.  

DISCUSSION:  
 

At the outset, it is significant to note that the Public Policy behind the Open Meetings Laws is to 
ensure the hearing, deliberations, and actions of the public bodies “conduct[ing] the people’s business” 
be conducted openly.  N.C.G.S. §143.318-9.   

 
Generally speaking, a public body may hold an official meeting (defined in N.C.G.S. § 143-318.10(d)) 

by use of electronic means.  N.C.G.S. §143-318.13.  In that case, it shall provide a location and means 
whereby members of the public may listen to the meeting, the location of which should be specified in 

http://www.ncdoj.gov/


WWW.NCDOJ.GOV 114 W. EDENTON STREET, RALEIGH, NC 27603 919.716.6400 
 P. O. BOX 629, RALEIGH, NC 27602-
0629   

the notice.  Id.  A fee of up to $25 may be charged to each listener to defray the cost of providing the 
necessary cost and equipment.  Id.  
  

As with all meetings being made available to the public, public bodies should still comply with 
statutory requirements of notice, access and minutes.  
 

1. Notice – The public body must provide notice of an official meeting.  N.C.G.S. §143-318.12.  
Most meetings require 48-hours’ notice and that should be met if at all possible.  N.C.G.S. §143-
318.12(b)(2).  Emergency meetings may be called on short notice, but notice should still be 
provided.  N.C.G.S. §143-318.12(b)(3).   

2. Access – With few exceptions, an official meeting of a public body shall be open to the public.  
N.C.G.S. §143-318.10.  Access should be reasonable.  The Governor can, and has, limited the 
number of people that can physically attend a gathering.  That limitation must be respected.  
This means the public must be given reasonable means of listening/participating in the meeting.   

3. Minutes – Minutes are required and should be respected even when conducting the meeting 
electronically.  N.C.G.S. §143-318.10(e).  These may be in the form of sound or video and sound 
recordings.  Id.    

 
When public bodies are attempting to comply with statutes requiring a physical quorum, it is best 

that the physical quorum be met if at all possible.  As of today, that would need to be no more than ten 
people in the meeting.  Minutes should specifically record the person(s) that is not able to be physically 
present as not recusing himself or herself, but rather choosing to participate electronically.  As discussed 
herein, if it is not possible for a quorum to be physically present, I believe it is reasonable for the 
governing body to meet electronically. 

 
When meetings of public bodies are not necessary for immediate ongoing governance, I would 

encourage postponing that meeting until a future time when the meeting can occur in-person.   
 

I realize this does not address all of the various statutory provisions that could be implicated, and 
that is not the intent of this letter.  I have provided citations when available, but have also canvassed 
available information.  All weighing in on this topic are in agreement:  whatever is not explicitly 
addressed in the statutes should be met with reasonableness to allow transparency into the local 
governing process.  That is to say that local governments must continue to run, people have been 
ordered to not convene in groups larger than ten, and reasonableness must prevail in a time like 
this.  Again, these are unprecedented times and I feel confident a court will view efforts to remain 
transparent through a lens of reasonableness, which can be met through electronic meetings.  
       

This is an advisory letter and has not been reviewed and approved in accordance with the 
procedures for issuing an Advisory Opinion of the Attorney General.  Please let me know if I can be of 
further assistance.   
 

Sincerely,  
 
       s// Shannon Cassell  

Special Counsel  
 
 
cc: Alec Peters, Chief Deputy Attorney General  

Blake Thomas, Deputy General Counsel  

http://www.ncdoj.gov/


 

City Council Meeting 
Glendel Stephenson Municipal Building 

Monday, March 2, 2020 

 

The Mebane City Council met for its regular monthly meeting at 6:00 p.m., Monday, March 2, 2020 
in the Council Chambers of the Glendel Stephenson Municipal Building located at 106 East 
Washington Street.  

Councilmembers Present: Also Present:  
Mayor Ed Hooks David Cheek, City Manager 
Mayor Pro-Tem Jill Auditori                                      Chris Rollins, Assistant City Manager      
Councilmember Patty Philipps Lawson Brown, City Attorney 
Councilmember Tim Bradley Stephanie Shaw, City Clerk 
Councilmember Sean Ewing Cy Stober, Development Director 
Councilmember Everette Greene Terrence Caldwell, Police Chief 
                                                                                                                                                       
Mayor Hooks called the meeting to order. Mr. Bradley gave the invocation.  No one spoke during 
the Public Comment period.  

Mayor Hooks encouraged everyone to get out and vote on March 3rd for the primary election.  He 
also recognized Eagle Scout Troop 252. Scout Master Tobin Bates introduced several scouts in 
attendance. 

Mr. Cheek introduced and welcomed the City’s new IT Director Kirk Montgomery.  Mr. Cheek 
spoke highly of Mr. Montgomery and his education, experience and training.  Mr. Montgomery 
thanked Council and staff for the opportunity. He also spoke a few words about the Coronavirus 
as he formerly worked at the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services lab.    

Mr. Cheek gave an overview of the Consent Agenda:   

a. Approval of Minutes – February 3, 2020 – Regular Meeting 
b. Final Plat- The Flats at Arrowhead 
c. Final Plat- Cambridge Park, Phase 1B (Re-approval) 
d. Final Plat- Magnolia Glen Estates, Phase 2A 
e. Purchase Police Capital with Federal Equitable Funds  
f. Budget Ordinance Amendment- Public Works Vehicle Purchase 

 
Mr. Bradley questioned why the Cambridge Park, Phase 1B Final Plat was not recorded requiring 
the reapproval. Mr. Rollins said he could not put words in the applicant’s mouth but he would say 
the extremely rainy weather had a lot to do with it.  Mr. Bradley questioned if the Unified 
Development Ordinance (UDO) could be amended to allow flexibility for staff to grant extensions 
for reapprovals like this one.  Mr. Rollins said staff would be interested in including such an 
amendment in the UDO update which is scheduled to take place this year.  Mr. Bradley requested 
that staff include that amendment to the UDO update list. 

Item e. 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Mebane that the Budget Ordinance for the Fiscal 
Year Beginning July 1, 2019 as duly adopted on June 3, 2019, is hereby amended as follows: 
 

 
ARTICLE I  

 
  

APPROPRIATIONS  Current Budget  Change Revised Budget 
 

    

GENERAL FUND    

Police      $4,288,426 $   6,522 $4,294,948       
ARTICLE II 



 

REVENUES  Current Budget  Change Revised Budget 
 

   

GENERAL FUND    

Appropriated Fund Balance  $3,294,512    $   6,522   $3,301,034  
    

 
This the 2nd day of March, 2020. 
 
Item f. 

 
BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Mebane that the Budget Ordinance for the Fiscal 
Year Beginning July 1, 2019 as duly adopted on June 3, 2019, is hereby amended as follows: 
 

 
ARTICLE I  

 
  

APPROPRIATIONS  Current Budget  Change Revised Budget 
 

    

GENERAL FUND    

   Non-Departmental    
Debt Service – PW Vehicles      $     110,244 ($   110,244) $                 0 

  
 

 
    

 
   

 
   

ARTICLE II 

REVENUES  Current Budget  Change Revised Budget 
 

   

GENERAL FUND    

Appropriated Fund Balance  $ 3,301,034    $   254,756   $ 3,555,790  
Debt Proceeds 1,149,070 (365,000) 784,070 

    

 
This the 2nd day of March, 2020. 
 
Ms. Philipps made a motion, seconded by Mr. Greene, to approve the consent agenda as 
presented. The motion carried unanimously. 

Mayor Hooks stated that Council is reconsidering last month’s item regarding approval of a 
preliminary subdivision plat. Desco Holdings, LLC, is requesting approval to subdivide 3 properties 
totaling 76 acres located on NC 119 Hwy South & Nereus Drive for 78 single-family properties. The 
applicant is not seeking annexation into the City and will be providing on-site septic treatment 
instead of using city utilities.  He then asked Mr. Stober to speak regarding the item.   

Mr. Stober gave a brief overview of the project, stating the property is located outside of the City 
limits but within the extra-territorial jurisdiction area (ETJ) which is an area in which the City has 
zoning authority but does not provide City services.  He said the project site consist of three (3) 
properties totaling 76 acres located at the intersection of NC Hwy 119 and Kimrey Road just past 
Hawfields Presbyterian Church. Most of the surrounding properties are residential in nature with 
the exception of a large B-2 zoned vacant property immediately to the east which has historically 
been used for farming. The applicant is not seeking annexation into the City and will be providing on-site 
septic treatment for wastewater needs and using Orange Alamance Water System, Inc., services for water 
service needs.  Mr. Stober said one change that was made since the request was first heard by Council, is 
the commitment by the developer to provide 4.16 acres of recreation space along the creek in the form of 
trails. He said currently the UDO requires this space to be public recreation amenity however, the applicant 
has provided a letter detailing the commitments of this trail and some fitness stations which are not 
reflected on the site plan, so in a motion that would must be noted. Also, as to whether it would be public, 



 

the applicant is open to opportunity to make the trail a private recreation area if the Council pleases to be 
maintained by the HOA rather than the City.  He continued by saying that if the Council wishes the Traffic 
Impact Analysis that was conducted by the applicant can be discussed, although it was covered in detail at 
the last meeting. He said, in short, the NCDOT and the City’s traffic consultant found no outstanding 
concerns with the traffic improvements being provided on and off site as part of this project.  Mr. Stober 
concluded by saying that the preliminary plat featuring the recreation space is compliant with the City’s 
UDO requirements.  

Tom Boney, Editor/Owner of Alamance News, questioned how this item is on the suddenly on the agenda 
for reconsideration as Council made a decision last month.  Mr. Brown said first, the item is not suddenly 
on the agenda as it has been in the works since the last meeting and second, the Council has the authority 
to reconsider any decision it makes, particularly administrative and legislative decisions.  He said this is an 
administrative decision and the applicant requested, after enhancing the plan originally submitted, for 
Council to reconsider and the Council agreed to do so.  Mr. Boney said it appeared that last month Council 
made a final decision and now it seems the item has “sprung” back on the agenda and to the public’s 
knowledge this plan has not been “in the works” for the last month.  Mr. Brown said there are a number of 
items that staff, the Council and applicants work for months before it hits the public’s eye and although it 
may be a public document subject to disclosure, quite often things are worked on for a number of weeks, 
if not months before they show up. This applicant has been working on this particular property for about 
two (2) years and has been multiple iterations so no one has been caught “flat footed”.  Mr. Boney asked 
if the request was back for reconsideration because the applicant threatened legal action after last month’s 
meeting. Mr. Brown said there was some discussion of that.  Mr. Boney said he presumes that since the 
item is back for reconsideration, the City did not feel that its position was as defensible perhaps as the 
unanimous Council vote last month. Mr. Brown stated the plat is different with enhancements.   

Mr. Bradley asked what benefit is there for the City for them to provide the acreage for public 
recreation vs. taking the payment in lieu as discussed at last month’s meeting.  He said the creek 
bed will sit undeveloped anyway because it cannot be developed unless the property owners there 
make their own play areas and trails there. Therefore, he does not see any benefit for the City 
taking responsibility for this area.  Mr. Stober stated that Article 6 of the UDO does direct the Parks 
and Recreation Director to consider four (4) matters, one of which is connectedness in public 
recreation dedications. In this case the minimum recreation dedication is 2.31 acres in area and 
the applicant has provided well more than that.  In terms of connectedness there is opportunity 
possibly with the future school site to connect to the sidewalk that would be provided on NC Hwy 
119 or to another future development but as it stands today, it would be an island of recreation 
space.  Ms. Philipps said to follow up on Mr. Bradley’s comments, it is her understanding that the 
applicant has now offered to have the HOA develop and maintain this recreational facility with 
items such as trails and fitness equipment. She said the City requires recreational space in other 
subdivisions and have done so for quite some time, having onsite recreational facilities specific to 
the subdivision for the residents of that subdivision so she thinks that would be preferable as she 
does not think the City should take over maintaining this recreational facility as it would be isolated 
from everything else in the City.    

Ms. Philipps said as stated before this is not a rezoning request it is a subdivision plat request and 
it is a subdivision plat that complies with the criteria that is set out in the City’s UDO.  She said she 
does not personally like this subdivision because of the septic tanks on the edge of the City’s water 
and sewer service area and the disruption of the land that will come from installing septic fields. 
She does not like that the resulting cleared lots will be planted with lawns that people will put 
fertilizer on which she feels is damaging to our water system.  She does not like that people living 
in this subdivision will think they live in Mebane but will not be able to vote in Mebane’s elections 
and they will not pay City taxes.  She does not like that the residents of Summerhaven will benefit 
from proximity to Mebane but not paying City taxes. Unfortunately, the City of Mebane has 
adopted a UDO that specifies the criteria for approval of a plat and the applicant has met that 
criteria. Ms. Philipps stated she reluctantly moves to approve the plat including the open space 
proposal with the open space to be a private recreational facility maintained by the HOA because 
it does comply with the criteria of the UDO.  Mr. Greene seconded Ms. Philipps motion.  Mr. 
Bradley stated he adds to Ms. Philipps frustration as it seems like a waste of time to have an 
opportunity to vote in the best interest of the City in your opinion and you cannot vote in the best 
interest of the City. Mayor called for a vote. Ms. Philipps, Mr. Greene, Mr. Ewing and Mr. Bradley 
voted aye and Ms. Auditori voted nay. The motion passed with a 4-1 vote. 

 

A Public Hearing was held on a request to annex property owned by the City. The annexation is a 
non-contiguous annexation containing 19.574 acres located at 6914 E. Washington Street in 



 

Orange County and is the location for Mebane Memorial Garden cemetery. Mr. Brown presented 
the request and stated staff recommends adoption of the Ordinance to Extend the Corporate 
Limits. No one from the public spoke. Mr. Greene made a motion, seconded by Ms. Philipps, to 
close the Public Hearing. The motion carried unanimously. Mr. Bradley made a motion, seconded 
by Mr. Ewing, to adopt the Ordinance to Extend the Corporate Limits of the City of Mebane to 
include the 19.574 acres. The motion carried unanimously. 

Mr. Stober presented a waiver request for curb and gutter from ABB.  He explained that ABB is 
requesting that the new parking areas for visitors and employees at their expanded facility at 6801 
Industrial Drive have the curb requirements waived by the City Council.  He stated that the City of Mebane 
Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Article 6, Section 4, Item 4.C (“Design Standards for Parking, 
Stacking, and Loading Areas, Improvements”) states that “Parking lots containing 12 or more spaces shall 
also include curbing and storm drainage facilities. Driveway aprons shall be constructed to extend to the 
improved roadway. Provided, however, upon application the City Council may waive the requirement of 
curbing and/or storm drainage facilities where it is clearly demonstrated that curbing would be detrimental 
to the environment due to erosion or run off concerns or that the strict requirement of curbing and storm 
drainage would be unduly burdensome and financially not feasible.”  

Doug Sutter, ABB Program Manager, spoke on behalf of the request. He explained that as part of the overall 
project, ABB is investing $40MM in new construction and manufacturing equipment.  Currently the project 
is running to budget. However, with the extensive amount of rain, and the use of project contingency fund-
ing, the incremental $100k to execute the curb and gutter plan would exceed our projected budget.  He 
gave an overview of the map and plan details as follows. 

 

• Area A is a small VIP parking lot, with no truck traffic, and the elevation of the parking lot compared 
to the elevation of Industrial Drive would preclude passing traffic from viewing the curbs from the 
street.  There is no aesthetic detriment to the property. 

• Area B is the truck entrance for the expansion building. This area will be curbed due to elevations 
and retaining walls, as well as the desire to control truck traffic at the entrance.  No waiver is 
needed for area B. 

• Area C is what has been referred to as the temporary North Parking Lot.  The original plan was to 
develop a parking lot on the West side of the stream on the property.  This option is no longer 
viable.  As a result, ABB will submit a change to the phase 1 permit to convert the temporary parking 
to permanent parking.  Please note: 

o This parking lot is in the rear of the property.   
o It is connected to an existing parking lot with over 500 spaces without curbing 
o Speed of executing is critical as ABB converts this parking lot to a permanent lot, so that 

business operations are unaffected. 
 



 

Mr. Bradley asked if the driveway to Area A is going to be curbed as it will be very visible. Mr. 
Sutter replied that in their current waiver application it is not but they can evaluate that.  Mr. 
Bradley said he has no issue with there being no curb and gutter on the rear lot but the front lot 
and the drive leading up to it would look a lot better and more easily maintained if curbed and 
guttered. Ms. Philipps said that is a good point and it would be nice, since it is right next to the 
driveway to Area B, if they could look similar from the street.   She stated her biggest concern was 
with the stormwater and that concern was adequately addressed. She asked if ABB would be 
willing to reconsider the curb and gutter for at least the driveway of Area A. Mr. Sutter said they 
would reconsider the driveway and making both driveways match.   Ms. Philipps made a motion, 
seconded by Mr. Bradley, to approve the waiver request with the condition to curb and gutter 
both driveways so they look similar from the street.  The motion carried unanimously.  

Mr. Boney asked for an update on ABB’s project timeline. Mr. Sutter said originally, they had 
hoped for a certificate of occupancy (CO) in early July but with all the rain it looks like they may 
not get a CO until early August.  
 
Ms. Philipps gave a brief update on the Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan Committee’s (BPAC) 
happenings over the last year. She stated the BPAC has a draft 2019 annual report and a 2020 
work plan that should be approved by the end of the month and Council will get a copy after 
approved.  She stated last year the committee recommended several projects to the City Council 
including the MACC to Holt Street Greenway, sidewalks and bike boulevards. She said the 
greenway is still in the works but some of the capital investments are visible throughout the City 
as sidewalks have been installed on Center and Clay Streets and bicycle boulevard infrastructure 
has been installed on N. Fifth Street, N. Charles Street and Clay Street. She continued by stating 
that the BPAC also recommended resubmission of four (4) pedestrian connector projects for spot 
funding with the NCDOT.  Additionally, in June of last year the BPAC assisted the Mebane Police 
Department with its bicycle rodeo which was a huge success.  She highlighted the goals of the 
BPAC over moving forward which include promotion, programs, policies and projects.  Ms. 
Philipps concluded the update with a statement commending the valuable committee members.  
 
Mr. Hooks stated he has a conflict with the date for the April Council meeting and requested 
Council’s consideration to reschedule to another date.  He said it has been suggested that it be 
moved to April 14th as a budget work session meeting is set for that day and the regular monthly 
Council meeting could convene directly after.  Mr. Bradley made a motion, seconded by Mr. 
Greene, to move the regular monthly meeting date to April 14, 2020. The motion carried 
unanimously.  
 
Mr. Cheek announced that the 2020 Census is upcoming and strongly encouraged everyone to 
participate. He stated staff will be promoting the Census on social meeting.  He then announced 
the previously mentioned budget work session to be held on August 14th at 2:00pm with the 
regular monthly Council meeting to follow at 6:00pm. 
 
There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 6:42pm. 
 
 
Attest: ________________________    ______________________ 
            Stephanie W. Shaw, City Clerk    Ed Hooks, Mayor 
 

 

 



 

AGENDA ITEM #4B 
Petition for Voluntary Contiguous Annexation – 
The White House- Celine and Aubrey Meador 

Meeting Date 
May 4, 2020 

Presenter  
Lawson Brown, City Attorney 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

Summary 
Staff received a petition requesting voluntary contiguous annexation from Celine and Aubrey Meador. 

Background 
The applicant is requesting the described property to be annexed into Mebane’s Corporate Limits. This is a 
contiguous annexation containing approximately 7.85 acres located at 7920 E. Washington Street. 

Financial Impact 
The property will be added to the ad valorem tax base for the City once the property is annexed. 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends Council’s acceptance of the petition, the Clerk’s Certificate of Sufficiency and adoption 
of a Resolution setting a date of public hearing for June 1, 2020. 

Suggested Motion 
I make a motion to accept the petition, the Clerk’s Certificate of Sufficiency and to adopt the resolution 
setting a date of public hearing for June 1, 2020. 

Attachments 
1. Petition 
2. Clerk’s Certificate of Sufficiency 
3. Map 
4. Resolution 



PETITIO REQUESTING A GUOUS ANNEXATI(CN

Annexation Process - Approximatelv a 2 Month Process

1't lVlonth- Submit a Petition for Annexation to the City Council, the Clerk reports to City Council the

Sufficiency of the Annexation and the City Council adopts a Resolution to set a Public Hearing

2nd Month- A Public Hearing is held and normally that same night, the City Council will adopt an

Ordinance to set the effective date as the same or the Council will deny the request

To the City Council of the City of lVlebane:

1. We the undersigned owners of real property respectfully request that the area described

in Paragraph 2 below be annexed to the City of Mebane.

2. The area to be annexed is contiguous to the City of Mebane and the boundaries of

such territory are as follows:

*Pleose include o Description of Boundaries (Metes ond Bounds)on a seporate paper'

**3. We acknowledge that any zoning vested rights acquired pursuant to G.S' 160A-385'1 or

or G.S. !53A-344.1rnust be declared and identified on this petition. We further

acknowledge that failure to declare such rights on this petition shall result in a terminatirrn

of vested rights previousl'y acquired for the property. (lf zoning vested rights are claimed,

indicate below and attachr proof.)

Y<5 ./Ux7 1Z o E, te"sln; 
"qi"nS],rtre-hun9 tw/ >79oL

t A"b*^l /{enlot

v€s'C.l,r*ok *l*,- TqZD t, c,or<.Sl,uc,fun I l-
ll4e/oonre "AtC 273a1

3

*Vlunicipality may wish to require metes and bounds description or map. (Provide 2 paper copies, an

electronic copy and 3 mylars)

**This is one possible format for zoning vested rights declaration. This language may require

modification to reflect the requirements of the municipal zoning vested rights ordinance, if any

Do you declare
vested rights

(Yes or No)

AddressNanne

a,







RESOLUTION SETTING DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON 
QUESTION OF ANNEXATION PURSUANT TO G.S. 160A-31 

 
     WHEREAS, a petition requesting annexation of the area described herein has been received; 
and 
 
     WHEREAS, certification by the City Clerk as to the sufficiency of the petition has been made; 
 
     NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mebane, North Carolina 
that: 
 
     Section 1. A public hearing on the question of annexation of the area described herein will be 
held at the Mebane Municipal Building at 6:00 p.m. on June 1, 2020. 
 
     Section 2. The area proposed for annexation is described as follows:  
 
Beginning at a 1” Flat bar in the Southern R/W of E. Washington Street, the Northwest corner of 
the Aubrey and Celine Meador property; thence with the western line of said Meador S 01°09'31" 
W a distance of 726.00'to a point in the northern line of Glenn E. Patterson trustee; thence with 
said Petterson S 86°46'22" E a distance of 406.85'to a to a point, the southwest corner of Martin 
C. Bean; thence with said Bean N 03°01'46" E a distance of 362.46'to a point, the southeast corner 
of Brent and Carol Dudley in the said Bean line; thence with said Dudley N 75°30'01" W a distance 
of 150.41'to a point ; thence continuing with said Dudley and crossing the R/W E. Washington 
Street, Southern Railroad, and US Hwy 70 N 03°15'31" E a distance of 479.78'to a point in the 
Northern R/W of said US Hwy 70; thence with said US Hwy 70 N 75°15'10" W a distance of 
498.54'to a point; thence crossing said US Hwy 70, Southern Railroad, and E. Washington Street S 
02°58'04" E a distance of 209.96' to a PK Nail in the southern R/W of E. Washington Street and 
terminus of Eleventh Street; thence with said E. Washington Street S 75°15'10" E a distance of 
185.00'to a point; which is the point of beginning, having an area of 7.85 Acres 0.01226 Square 
Miles 
 
      Section 3. Notice of the public hearing shall be published once in the Mebane Enterprise, a 
newspaper having general circulation in the City of Mebane, at least ten (10) days prior to the date 
of the public hearing. 
 
    
  Ed Hooks, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
  
Stephanie W. Shaw, City Clerk 



 

AGENDA ITEM #4C 
Petition for Voluntary Contiguous Annexation – 
Mebane Oaks Lot 3 – Greg Spears 

Meeting Date 
May 4, 2020 

Presenter  
Lawson Brown, City Attorney 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

Summary 
Staff received a petition requesting voluntary contiguous annexation from Greg Spears and John Spears. 

Background 
The applicants are requesting the described property to be annexed into Mebane’s Corporate Limits. This 
is a contiguous annexation containing approximately 1.78 acres on Mebane Oaks Road. This property will 
be under consideration for future development at the May Planning Board Meeting and June Council 
meeting. 

Financial Impact 
The property will be added to the ad valorem tax base for the City once the property is annexed. 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends Council’s acceptance of the petition, the Clerk’s Certificate of Sufficiency and adoption 
of a Resolution setting a date of public hearing for June 1, 2020. 

Suggested Motion 
I make a motion to accept the petition, the Clerk’s Certificate of Sufficiency and to adopt the resolution 
setting a date of public hearing for June 1, 2020. 

Attachments 
1. Petition 
2. Clerk’s Certificate of Sufficiency 
3. Map 
4. Resolution 



4/24/2020







RESOLUTION SETTING DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON 
QUESTION OF ANNEXATION PURSUANT TO G.S. 160A-31 

 
     WHEREAS, a petition requesting annexation of the area described herein has been received; 
and 
 
     WHEREAS, certification by the City Clerk as to the sufficiency of the petition has been made; 
 
     NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mebane, North Carolina 
that: 
 
     Section 1. A public hearing on the question of annexation of the area described herein will be 
held at the Mebane Municipal Building at 6:00 p.m. on June 1, 2020. 
 
     Section 2. The area proposed for annexation is described as follows:  
 
Beginning at a 5/8" rebar in the western line of Wilson Road, the southeast corner of lot 2 Mebane 
Oaks Associates, NAD 83 coordinates: Northing:843966.46' Easting:1920498.47'; thence with said 
Lot 2 and crossing Mebane Oaks Road(SR 1007) S 65°43'41" W a total distance of 344.44'to a point;  
thence with the Western R/W of said SR 1007 S 27°20'14" E a distance of 186.27'to a point; thence 
crossing said SR 1007 N 70°14'10" E a distance of 85.08'to a point in the northern property line of 
Roger Sheilds; thence with said Roger Shields north line N 70°32'22" E a distance of 327.90'to a 
point in the eastern R/W of Wilson Road Extension; thence with the eastern R/W of said Wilson 
Road a curve turning to the right with an arc length of 73.08', with a radius of 270.00', with a chord 
bearing of N 33°54'46" W, with a chord length of 72.85',to a point; thence continuing with said 
Wilson Road N 26°09'33" W a distance of 78.10'to a point; thence crossing said Wilson Road S 
63°50'27" W a distance of 60.00'to a point in the Western R/W of said Wilson Road; thence with 
the western R/W of said Wilson Road N 26°09'33" W a distance of 68.54'to a point; thence with a 
curve turning to the right with an arc length of 3.79', with a radius of 230.00', with a chord bearing 
of N 25°41'15" W, with a chord length of 3.79', to a point ; which is the point of beginning, having 
an area 1.78 Acres 0.00278 Square Miles. 
 
      Section 3. Notice of the public hearing shall be published once in the Mebane Enterprise, a 
newspaper having general circulation in the City of Mebane, at least ten (10) days prior to the date 
of the public hearing. 
 
    
  Ed Hooks, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
  
Stephanie W. Shaw, City Clerk 



 P a g e  | 1 

AGENDA ITEM #4D 
Recombination Plat for Removal 
of Shared Dedicated Access 
Easement to Lots 55 & 56, 
Emerson Drive, Bradford Place 

Presenter 
Cy Stober, Development Director 

Applicant 
Agency Partners, LLC 
P.O. Box 667 
Elon, NC  27244 

Public Hearing 
Yes   No  

Summary 
Agency Partners, LLC, is requesting the removal of a shared “Access Easement” from Lots 55 and 
56 on Emerson Drive, Mebane, NC, in the Bradford Place community. Agency Partners, LLC, owns 
both properties. The access easement was dedicated at the time of the major subdivision creating 
the Bradford Place community. It was a municipal dedication from the right of way (ROW) to two 
properties and is irrevocable by any party but the City of Mebane. The submitted recombination 
plat is otherwise exempt from Council action, approvable by the City Planning Department under 
North Carolina statute and City ordinances.  

The removal of the access easement is featured on a submitted recombination plat between Lots 
55 and 56 that will dedicate 2’ of property along the boundary between the two lots to allow Lot 
56 to build a private access driveway up to 12’ in width, should it be developed as a R-12 lot. 
Without the dedicated land, a private driveway would encroach upon the stream buffer present 
on the property. Regardless, the removal of the access easement will require Lot 56 to acquire a 
Floodplain Development Permit to realize a driveway to the lot from the public ROW, as noted on 
the recombination plat. Lot 55 is accessible from the public ROW from any location along its 
frontage, allowing for by-right development as a R-12 zoning district. 

Financial Impact 
N/A 

Recommendation 
N/A  



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 2 

Suggested Motion 
Motion to approve the request to removal the publicly-dedicated Access Easements to Lots 55 & 
56 on Emerson Drive, Mebane, NC, in the Bradford Place community. 

Attachments 
1. Recombination Plat for removal of the Access Easement 





 

AGENDA ITEM #4E 
Contract for 2019-20 Audit 

Meeting Date 
April 14, 2020 

Presenter  
Jeanne Tate 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

Summary 
Stout, Stuart, McGowen & King, LLP has presented an engagement contract for an audit of the financial 
records of the City for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019.  Approval of this contract is requested, subject 
to approval by the Local Government Commission of the State Treasurer’s Office. 

Background 
North Carolina General Statue §159-34 requires an annual audit of governmental units at the conclusion of 
each fiscal year by an independent audit firm.  For the past three years, in keeping with best practice 
recommendations, the City has engaged with one firm, Cobb, Ezekiel Loy & Co, for assistance in preparation 
of the financial statements, and with another, Stout, Stuart, McGowen & King, for the audit itself.  The cost 
for last year’s audit was $22,500.  The proposed fee for FY19-20 is $22,950.  Actual cost will depend on the 
work required for the audit. 

Financial Impact 
The amount needed for the contract is included in the proposed 2020-21 budget. 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends approval of the contract as presented. 

Suggested Motion 
I make a motion to approve the contract as presented. 

Attachments 
1. Contract to audit accounts 
2. Engagement Letter and Peer Review  

 



































 

 

Budget Message 2020-2021 
Staying Positively Charming – A Coronavirus Challenge 

 

 

 

David S. Cheek, City Manager 
May 4, 2020 



 

C O N T E N T S  

Budget Message ...................................................................................................................................... 1 

Mebane Still Growing, Possibly Slowing .............................................................................................. 1 

A Coronavirus Challenge ..................................................................................................................... 2 

General Fund ........................................................................................................................................... 3 

Executive Summary ............................................................................................................................. 3 

Revenues & Other Financing Sources ................................................................................................. 4 

Property Taxes ................................................................................................................................ 4 

Sales Tax .......................................................................................................................................... 5 

Intergovernmental Revenue ........................................................................................................... 6 

Permits and Fees ............................................................................................................................. 6 

Other Financing Sources ................................................................................................................. 6 

Expenditures & Other Financing Uses ................................................................................................. 8 

Budget Requests – The Stress of Growth ........................................................................................ 8 

Budget Overview – Coronavirus Challenge ..................................................................................... 9 

Department Budgets ..................................................................................................................... 10 

Outside Agencies ........................................................................................................................... 10 

The Utility Fund ..................................................................................................................................... 11 

Revenues & Other Financing Sources ............................................................................................... 11 

Proposed Fee Increase – Delayed to January 2021 ........................................................................... 12 

Expenditures & Other Financing Uses ............................................................................................... 14 

Budget Overview ........................................................................................................................... 14 

Department Budgets ..................................................................................................................... 15 

Conclusion ............................................................................................................................................. 15 

Council Deliberation Report .............................................................................................................. 15 

Final Thoughts ................................................................................................................................... 16 

Appendix A: Department Budgets ......................................................................................................... 17 

General Fund ..................................................................................................................................... 17 

City Council ................................................................................................................................... 17 

Administration .............................................................................................................................. 18 



 

Finance .......................................................................................................................................... 19 

Information Technology ................................................................................................................ 20 

Economic Development ................................................................................................................ 21 

Police ............................................................................................................................................. 22 

Fire ................................................................................................................................................ 23 

Planning ........................................................................................................................................ 24 

Inspections .................................................................................................................................... 25 

Engineering ................................................................................................................................... 26 

Public Works ................................................................................................................................. 27 

Public Facilities .............................................................................................................................. 28 

Sanitation ...................................................................................................................................... 29 

Recreation & Parks ........................................................................................................................ 30 

Non-Departmental ........................................................................................................................ 31 

Utility Fund ........................................................................................................................................ 32 

Utility Administration .................................................................................................................... 32 

Utility Operations & Maintenance ................................................................................................ 33 

Utility Engineering ......................................................................................................................... 34 

Water Resource Recovery Facility (WRRF) .................................................................................... 35 

Utility Non-Departmental ................................................................................................................. 36 

Appendix B – 2021 Council Deliberation Report ................................................................................... 37 

 



 

1 

 

B U D G E T  M E S S A G E  

May 4, 2020 

Mayor and City Councilmembers 

City of Mebane, North Carolina 

Dear Mayor and Councilmembers, 

Can I begin this year’s budget message with  anything other than the global pandemic set in 

motion by the coronavirus? From Wuhan, China, all the way to Mebane, this unprecedented 

shutdown of the world has everyone wondering about their future. With "Stay at Home" 

orders that limit groups to ten or less, deem businesses as non-essential, and encourage 

social distancing in every facet of life, we find ourselves questioning almost every footing on 

which we’ve built our trust. Steady jobs, freedom to move about, ample stocks of food and 

supplies, and healthy human interaction have become luxuries instead of basic needs. New 

microscopic risks lurk around every corner and on every surface. Even the air we breathe is 

suspected of carrying the virus. To add to this, we have no indication when this quarantine 

might end or how long it will last.  

While City government is complying with virus-inspired restrictions, we cannot halt services 

since most must go on regardless of the risks. Many of us work from home now, are limited 

to minimal interaction with colleagues, and our meetings have been reduced to headshots 

on flat screens with stilted conversations. Most all City employees are essential because 

government services are essential. Imagine if there was no trash and recycling pickup, police 

and fire protection, water distribution and treatment, street maintenance, building 

inspections and even budget administration. It is in a crisis like this that our citizens look to 

City government the most, but it also a time that increases risk for our public safety and 

frontline workers due to potential exposure to the virus. To add to this, the City is working 

hard to find scarce personal protective equipment like masks, hand sanitizer, and gowns to 

ensure employee safety. City hall is closed to foot traffic while platoons of employees rotate 

to continue providing citizen guidance, information and collection of revenue s. With the 

April council meeting and usual budget work sessions canceled, the May meeting will be held 

via video conference to deliver this budget message to the Council and the public. 

M E B A N E  S T I L L  G R O W I N G ,  P O S S I B L Y  S L O W I N G  

Despite these unprecedented times, Mebane’s growth continues at a brisk pace, though 

homebuilders are beginning to slow construction until the pandemic’s influence on the 



 

2 

economy can be determined. Even still, current estimates reveal that we are growing at 

about 1,000 new residents per year. New jobs, both in and around our City, are drawing new 

residents in increasing numbers just as our demographic forecasts have projected. The City's 

population is currently growing at a faster rate than anticipated in our long-range plan! 

Mebane by Design projected an annual growth rate of 4.8%, but based on new developments 

approved and planned, staff expects annual growth at 5.2%. No matter the projection, 

Mebane’s population is destined to be over 30,000 in 15 years.  

 

With the decennial census well underway, we are anxious for more formal confirmation of 

the City’s growth rate and population. Staff believes we are approaching 18,000 residents 

despite the U.S. Census Bureau’s guess of just over 15,500. In any event, as developers 

continue to expand the inventory of new homes and apartments, and industrial 

announcements and inquiries persist, all indications are that Mebane will continue to be one 

of the fastest-growing cities in North Carolina. Mebane’s small-town charm, prime location 

near the Triangle, and quality City amenities serve only to strengthen the attraction of new 

people into the City. 

A  C O R O N A V I R U S  C H A L L E N G E  

In my thirty-plus years of government service, I have never experienced a more upside-down 

world in which to prepare a budget, much less estimate the revenues that support it! Despite 

that, as is customary at the May regular council meeting each year, I am proposing this 

spending plan for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021. Considering these unprecedented 

times, the budget theme for this year is Staying Positively Charming – A Coronavirus 

Challenge. After several meetings with department heads and the budget committee, I 

developed this budget with several principles in mind. As depicted at the right using the five 

C’s To combat COVID-19, I am implementing C-5 budgeting! 



 

3 

 

In short, we will continue current levels of service as normally as possible, while keeping 

essential initiatives moving forward. Effectively, the City will continue to do what it is 

currently doing with a view towards how and when the coronavirus state of emergency will 

end. As the impact of this crisis on our economy and our local revenues becomes more 

evident, we can consider if additions or decreases to the budget are necessary. 

G E N E R A L  F U N D  

E X E C U T I V E  S U M M A R Y  

First, I am not recommending any increase in the property tax rate in keeping with Principle 

C-1. Even so, the General Fund will increase by 5.5% to $22,365,300. At first glance, a 

$1,173,000 increase seems more like a moderate expansion than a continuation budget. 

However, greenway and park projects already in progress, the purchase of needed vehicles 

in Sanitation, and the urgent need to repair the Lake Michael dam account for $2,138,650 of 

the fund's proposed expenditures. Without these projects, recommended expenses are 

decreasing by 4.8%. With a 1.6% decline in revenues due to the COVID-19 crisis, we plan to 

use the low-interest-rate environment and obtain bank loans to fund these projects. Even 

with these loan proceeds, I am recommending a $2,174,018 appropriation of fund balance. 

Fortunately, $912,000 of this planned use of fund balance comes from reserves accumulated 

in the capital fund set aside for such capital needs. This appropriation of the fund balance is 

higher than last year's allocation, but one of the reasons we maintain a prudent level of fund 

balance is for unprecedented times like these. Our strong fund balance position protects 

against reducing service levels or raising taxes and fees during unforeseen events like this 

global pandemic and statewide shutdown. With our conservative revenue and expenditure 

projections, I fully expect the City’s fund balance to remain healthy and stay within our policy 

limits. 

Conservative Budget
•Revenues and spending will be conservative to allow for change later 

depending on how and when we come out of this crisis.

Continue Projects
•Projects and initiatives begun in 2020 will continue to move forward 

toward completion.

Care for Employees
•Our workforce will not be expanded, but we will continue valuing our 

existing employees who carry on in hazardous conditions and at minimal 
staffing levels.

Citizens in Mind
•Property taxes will not be increased, and necessary utility rate increases 

will be postponed to January 1, 2021, keeping in mind the hard times of 
many in our community who have lost jobs or haved  reduced incomes. 

Concern for Safety •Projects that address safety issues will be preferred over other projects.



 

4 

 

R E V E N U E S  &  O T H E R  F I N A N C I N G  S O U R C E S  

The General Fund’s primary sources of revenue include property taxes, sales taxes,  

intergovernmental revenues, and permits and fees. Property and sales taxes make up just 

over 80% of all revenues. This year, we are predicting a decline in total revenues due to the 

coronavirus shutdown's economic impact. This decline is highly unusual and almost 

unprecedented for Mebane, as the past decade has seen consistent and vigorous annual 

growth in the City’s revenues. For 2021, we expect total revenues to decrease by 1.6% 

compared to the 2020 adopted budget. The following table compares General Fund 

revenues for the three years from 2019 to 2021. Not only are projected revenues for 2021 

lower than this year, but they are also less than revenues in 2019. As just stated, to maintain 

existing service levels and continue ongoing projects, we are increasing the use of other 

financing sources to offset these dismal estimates. This increase in other financing sources 

will include borrowing funds for some Public Works vehicles, the Cates Farm Park, the MACC 

to Holt Street Greenway and the Lake Michael Dam. In addition to this, we are 

recommending the appropriation of $2,174,018 in fund balance. 

PROPERTY TAXES 

Property taxes comprise 63% of the City’s total revenues. We do not expect the coronavirus 

General Fund Budget with Changes in 

Fund Balance

2020 

Adopted

2021 

Proposed

Increase 

(Decrease)

% 

Change

Total revenues................................................ 18,543,230$  18,252,212$ (291,018)$      (1.6%)

Other financing sources.................................. 1,149,070       1,939,070       790,000          68.8% 

Total revenues & OFS..................................... 19,692,300    20,191,282    498,982          2.5% 

Expenditures.................................................. 21,192,300    22,365,300    1,173,000       5.5% 

Change in fund balance.................................. (1,500,000)     (2,174,018)     (674,018)         44.9% 

Beginning fund balance.................................. 14,513,818    13,013,818     (1,500,000)     (10.3%)

Ending fund balance...................................... 13,013,818$  10,839,800$ (2,174,018)$   (16.7%)

General Fund 2019 Actual 2020 Budget

2020 

Estimated

2021

 Projected

Increase 

(Decrease)

% 

Change

Revenues
Property taxes............................................... 10,875,324$  11,124,975$  11,295,995$  11,492,912$  367,937$      3.3% 
Sales taxes.................................................... 3,407,296       3,515,300       3,255,350        3,190,243       (325,057)      (9.2%)
Privilege licenses........................................... 1,030                1,000               1,030                1,000                -                 0.0% 
Unrestricted intergovernmental................... 1,666,290      1,821,770        1,617,714        1,638,000       (183,770)       (10.1%)
Restricted intergovernmental....................... 543,018           410,085          532,433            457,150           47,065          11.5% 
Permits & fees............................................... 923,754           809,000          728,871            780,307           (28,693)        (3.5%)
Sales & services............................................. 554,575           625,100          629,586           625,000          (100)               (0.0%)
Investment earnings..................................... 120,310           15,000             85,000             20,000             5,000            33.3% 
Miscellaneous................................................ 288,662          221,000          404,683           47,600             (173,400)      (78.5%)

Total revenues................................................. 18,380,259    18,543,230     18,550,662     18,252,212     (291,018)      (1.6%)
Other financing sources

Transfers in................................................... -                    -                    -                    -                    -                 N/A
Debt proceeds............................................... 735,468           1,149,070       -                    1,939,070       790,000       68.8% 
Appropriated fund balance........................... -                    1,500,000       957,587            2,174,018       674,018        44.9% 

Total other financing sources........................... 735,468           2,649,070      957,587            4,113,088       1,464,018    55.3% 

Total revenues & other financing sources........ 19,115,727$   21,192,300$  19,508,249$  22,365,300$  1,173,000$  5.5% 



 

5 

crisis to have an extraordinary impact on property taxes though we are estimating a slightly 

lower collection percentage than usual. I am not recommending a tax increase, so the $0.47 

property tax rate per $100 of property value will balance the budget. At this rate, property 

taxes will increase a modest 3.3% and total $11,492,912. This estimate includes current year 

taxes, motor vehicle taxes, fire district taxes, prior year taxes and penalties and interest. The 

additional property tax revenue is entirely due to growth in the City's tax base, projected to 

be $2,237,062,961. Due to the expected economic fallout from COVID-19, we are estimating 

a collection rate of 98% instead of the historical 99%. One cent on the tax rate will net 

$219,232.  

SALES TAX 

This year, projections for sales tax are very uncertain. National and state economic forecasts 

are being revised daily in response to increasingly stringent stay-at-home and social 

distancing measures put in place by the State to slow the spread of the virus. We cannot 

know the magnitude of the impact of these measures on sales tax. There is a growing 

consensus among economists that there will be a sharp economic decline in the U.S. at least 

from April through June (our fourth quarter). With the wave of unemployment claims caused 

by business closures and the statewide stay-at-home order, likely at least one more quarter 

(July through September, our first quarter) of negative growth will follow. Two quarters of 

decline meets the popular definition of a recession. Likely, the economy will then gradually 

recover into early 2021. Retail sales have typically shown robust growth in Mebane. The 

average annual growth in sales tax averaged a solid 7.9% for the five years from 2015 to 2019. 

The chart below depicts the yearly increases for these years, along with the projections for 

2020 and 2021. For the current year, we are expecting a 4.5% decrease from 2019, which 

means our sales tax estimate will be short by $259,950.  

 

On top of this deficit, the projected reduction for 2021 is $65,107 (2.0%). When compared to 

our 2020 budget estimate, the 2021 budget projects a decrease of 9.2%. The impact of the 

virus on our sales tax will be dramatic, going from a 5-year average increase of $225,000 to 



 

6 

a $325,057 decrease this coming year. That's a striking blow to the budget when you consider 

the difference between the two creates a budgetary decline of over $550,000. That's a half-

million-dollar decline in ongoing revenues that will likely require a few years of recovery, 

depending on how quickly the economy turns around. Essentially, this projection puts us 

back at 2018 levels for sales tax. 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL REVENUE 

The electricity sales tax, the Powell Bill allocation, and contracted tax sharing include the 

bulk of intergovernmental revenues combining to make up approximately 12% of total 

revenues. The Electricity Sales Tax will be flat for 2021, although Airgas's opening might 

provide an unexpected increase. The State restricts the Powell Bill Allocation for 

maintaining, repairing, or constructing City-owned streets and rights-of-way. Contracted 

tax sharing is the additional tax required of Walmart per the incentive agreement. Other 

state-shared revenues include sales taxes on telecommunications, video programming and 

natural gas. Restricted intergovernmental revenue is estimated to be $457,150, an 11.5% 

increase over this year. Unrestricted intergovernmental revenue is decreasing to $1,638,000. 

This 10.1% decline is primarily the result of a decrease in the contracted tax sharing revenue 

that is dropping from $282,000 to $130,000. Increased tax revenues generated by N.C. 

Commerce Park industries’ larger property values will offset this decline.  

PERMITS AND FEES 

Permits and Fees consist primarily of planning and inspection fees associated with 

residential and non-residential development within the City and its extraterritorial 

jurisdiction (ETJ). Total permits and fees are projected at $780,307, making up about 4% of 

total revenues. The residential development sector will likely slow somewhat, again 

depending on how we emerge from this crisis. Many builders have stopped building 

speculative houses and are only building to suit. The real estate housing market has been a 

seller’s market in Mebane, but the virus’s impact on the national economy is being felt here 

at home as well. To that end, we are estimating a slight decrease in permits and fees of 3.5%. 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 

To balance the budget, we need to appropriate fund balance of $2,174,018 in addition to 

$1,939,070 in bank financing for the following projects: 

• The design of the MACC-Holt Street Greenway is complete, and we are currently in 

the process of obtaining permits and easements. We expect to bid this project before 

fiscal year-end. The $1,223,470 project has been funded with cash so far, but 

completing the project will require a bank loan of $784,070. With Impact Alamance 

donating $250,000 to this project, we need to keep it moving forward. 

• Bank loans totaling $1,155,000 will finance the following projects: 

o The Lake Michael Dam ($350,000) is in immediate need of repair. We have 

discussed the renovation of this dam for the last ten years, and we are concerned 



 

7 

enough to consider this an urgent safety recommendation. An engineering firm is 

currently evaluating the dam, and the report is due in the next month.  

o Sanitation needs to purchase of a swap loader which is a combination leaf/utility  

truck ($270,000) and a badly needed replacement brush truck ($160,000). At one 

point this year, we had all three leaf trucks out of commission for repairs. The 

swap loader allows the body of the truck to be swapped so it doesn’t sit idle for 

nine months and can be adapted to perform many tasks, including spraying brine, 

spreading salt, and even as a dump truck. 

o The design of the trails at the Cates Farm Park is complete, and the trails are 

marked out. Plans are to cut these trails over the next few months. We have 

determined a location for the fully accessible tree-house playground; however, I 

recommend that we add bathrooms and a picnic shelter near the treehouse and 

use our own forces to build a gravel road into the park. These items will cost an 

additional $375,000. Impact Alamance has also donated $250,000 to this project, 

so I am recommending that it be continued and made more accessible with a 

gravel road and paved parking lot at the playground and shelter. 

 
Proposed Cates Farm Playground Area 

Bank financing for large purchases and projects makes so much sense now because the 

interest rates are at all-time lows, and our debt load is well under norms. As mentioned 

previously, the amount of fund balance recommended for appropriation this year is not 

unprecedented, but it is higher than the City has appropriated in the past several years. The 

reason we have a healthy fund balance and a policy that keeps it that way is because it  allows 

the City flexibility to adjust for unexpected opportunities or challenges during the year. I 

believe these unprecedented times call for the use of a bit more fund balance , and this 

recommended appropriation may take the balance below the minimum policy threshold of 



 

8 

50% of expenditures; however, we have been below our policy level before. Based on a 

worst-case scenario, we estimate that the fund balance percentage could reach 36% by the 

end of 2021; however, even 36% is a sufficiently strong financial position. The following chart 

shows this expected impact on the fund balance as a percentage of total expenditures. 

 

E X P E N D I T U R E S  &  O T H E R  F I N A N C I N G  U S E S  

BUDGET REQUESTS – THE STRESS OF GROWTH 

General Fund budget requests this year are beginning to show the strain of keeping up with 

our quickly expanding City. Department heads initially requested a total of $23,383,809 

during the budget process this year. Along with inflationary operational increases, new 

personnel requests included 18 new positions and five reclassifications. Also, significant 

department capital requests likely indicate worn-out equipment, vehicles needing 

replacement, and aging infrastructure requiring substantial repair.  To fund all these 

requests, we would need to increase the property tax a minimum of $1,018,509. With one 

penny on the tax rate estimated to bring in $219,232, the tax rate would have to increase by 

4.6 cents to meet the rest of the requests. 

Department heads had finalized their requests in early March, right before the COVID-19 

crisis hit North Carolina. As we realized the impact of the crisis on our economy, I asked 

departments to cut their requests based on an imminent revenue shortfall. They provided 

over $500,000 in cuts to reduce their requests to only essential needs. To keep the tax rate 

at 47 cents, I made an additional $440,000 in reductions; however, I had to appropriate more 

fund balance than usual to balance the budget. As the budget committee evaluated these 

requests, none appeared to be completely unreasonable. I make this point only to call 

attention to the increasing tension of providing quality services and infrastructure to a 

rapidly growing city like Mebane. As we look forward, I am not convinced that the 47 cents 

tax rate is sustainable at the pace our population is growing. I often hear that growth pays 

for itself; however, one of the most significant items in our budget is personnel costs, and 

$7,563,514
$9,098,856

$8,141,269 $7,641,269

43%

56%

46%

36%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

$0

$1,000,000

$2,000,000

$3,000,000

$4,000,000

$5,000,000

$6,000,000

$7,000,000

$8,000,000

$9,000,000

$10,000,000

2018 2019 2020 2021

Unassigned Fund Balance

Unassigned Fund Balance as % of Total Expenditures



 

9 

the City's employee numbers are much lower in various departments than many similar-

sized cities. While not included in my recommended budget, I believe an in-house study to 

determine expected employee needs over the next ten years is needed. An overall space 

needs study could include this workforce projection to identify new or expanded facility 

needs adequately. 

BUDGET OVERVIEW – CORONAVIRUS CHALLENGE 

The proposed spending plan for the General Fund amounts to $22,365,300, a 5.5% increase 

over last year’s adopted budget. New items significantly increasing this budget include the 

MACC-Holt Street Park Greenway, a potential incentive payment to Lotus Bakeries, three 

Police vehicles, the street repaving and repair contract, a swap loader garbage/leaf truck and 

new brush truck, recycling contract increase, and a debt payment related to financing the 

new greenway. To offset these items, we cut budgets across the board in a variety of 

departments. 

 

Personnel costs for 2021 are increasing over the 2020 budget by $749,091 (6.9%). The 

significant items contributing to this increase include: 

• Two new positions were approved in 2020 to keep up with the City's construction 

growth and protect against cybercrime. With hiring the new Planner and IT Specialist 

before the end of fiscal 2020, the budget includes salaries and benefits for a full year 

in 2021.    

• For employee compensation, I am recommending a 2% COLA increase, but placing a 

one-year freeze on the merit pay plan. 

• Increases in medical insurance rates of 5%, along with a rise in the retirement 

contribution rate of 6.1% were also significant contributors to increased benefits 

costs.  

Operating expenditures reflect a 13.5% increase, including an increase in recycling fees, 

engineering fees, and funding for a city-wide space needs study ($110,000). Responding to 

the current world situation and increased reliance on our online presence for everyday 

activities, we are proposing to upgrade the website, fund a more robust social media 

presence, and enhance security and stability with technology-related costs in various areas.  

As just mentioned, capital outlay is mostly for Recreation projects, Public Works vehicles, 

and police patrol vehicles. We are proposing to continue the Cates Farm Park project that 

includes trails and an accessible playground. We are recommending additional funding for 



 

10 

the construction of a gravel road by our own forces and a bathroom/shelter facility beside 

the playground to provide access and convenience to those who visit the park. We are 

currently having the Lake Michael dam evaluated for decade-old concerns about its 

deterioration. Based on the expected results of the study, we are recommending the repair 

of the dam. 

The financing of Recreation projects and the purchase of Public Works vehicles require new 

debt payments. This new debt nets with reductions in existing debt to reduce debt service 

costs by 6.5% and keep our debt level at a very moderate 8% of total expenditures. 

DEPARTMENT BUDGETS 

The following table lists the total budget for each department in the General Fund and 

compares the 2021 Recommended Budget to the 2020 Budget. The Increase (Decrease) 

column provides the change in dollar amount, while the % Change column pr ovides the 

change relative to the size of each department's budget. For instance, the 2021 dollar 

increase over 2020 for Sanitation is $465,969. The 37.3% change shows the relative growth 

of Sanitation's proposed 2021 budget as compared to its 2020 budget. Since the previous 

section highlighted the major budget items impacting the 2021 recommended budget, I will 

not re-plow that ground here. Appendix A provides detailed descriptions of each 

department's supporting revenues, recommended budget, and budget highlights.  

 

OUTSIDE AGENCIES 

Outside agencies are a minor part of the budget appropriations; however, these agencies 

provide essential services for the citizens of Mebane. 

• The Mebane Historical Museum has long been funded by the City to operate the 

General Fund

2019     

Actual 2020 Budget

2020 

Estimated

2021 

Recommended

Increase 

(Decrease)

% 

Change

Council............................... 78,580$          82,660$          81,830$          83,539                  879$             1.1% 

Administration.................. 787,173           988,150          823,722          1,163,700            175,550       17.8% 

Finance............................... 509,614          588,020          518,628          604,386               16,366          2.8% 

Information Technology... 195,867          288,260          287,496          409,775               121,515       42.2% 

Economic Development... 310,836          984,250          727,075           1,021,800           37,550          3.8% 

Police.................................. 4,311,918       4,046,370      4,224,979      4,350,405           304,035       7.5% 

Fire..................................... 2,702,299      2,925,800      2,956,638      2,954,224           28,424         1.0% 

Planning............................. 307,475          448,790          388,705          561,664               112,874       25.2% 

Inspections......................... 365,211          581,000          427,515          618,705               37,705          6.5% 

Engineering....................... 271,547          350,000          434,100          430,500               80,500         23.0% 

Public Works...................... 1,590,223      2,560,250      3,072,566       2,644,613           84,363          3.3% 

Public Facilities.................. 633,902          784,880          820,610          806,593               21,713          2.8% 

Sanitation.......................... 1,045,305      1,250,790      1,045,999      1,716,759            465,969       37.3% 

Recreation & Parks............ 1,447,960      2,717,001       1,631,329       2,481,665           (235,336)      (8.7%)

Non-Departmental............ 2,241,409      2,586,079      2,574,412       2,516,972           (69,107)        (2.7%)

Total expenditures............... 16,799,319$  21,182,300$  20,015,604$ 22,365,300$      1,183,000$ 5.6% 



 

11 

museum and keep a cultural record of the City’s history. The board requested a 2% 

increase this year for salary increases. 

• The Alamance County Arts Council provides the City with several performances each 

year as well as public art sculptures. The Council requested the same amount as last 

year. 

• The volunteer Train Group continues upgrading the Tommy Long Train Collection 

and has become a top-rated attraction. The Train Group requested a two-year budget 

for 2021 and 2022 of $50,000 ($25,000 each year) for the purchase, installation, and 

refurbishment of a retired caboose rail car to be located in a public park space for 

visitors and residents to have an up-close and personal inspection of one of rail 

transportation's key fixtures. While this is an idea that deserves more consideration 

in the future, with the current crisis, I am not recommending funding this year. No 

appropriation is recommended for the Train Group this year as the group has 

carryover funds that will last them into next year. 

• The Alamance County Transportation Authority (ACTA) provides medical and human 

service transportation to Mebane residents. They offered a wealth of data supporting 

their request that shows increasing service provision to Mebane residents. ACTA did 

not request an increase this year. 

• Finally, United Way provides 211 services to our citizens who have emergency needs 

for housing, food, utilities, mental health issues, and other household needs. The 211 

service, which connects people with these needs to appropriate agencies for 

assistance, is being widely used during the coronavirus crisis. The agency requested 

$5,000, of which I am recommending $2,500. 

T H E  U T I L I T Y  F U N D  

The Utility Fund is an enterprise fund designed to be a self-supporting operation that sells 

water and sewer services to the public for a fee. Utility operations are budgeted across three 

funds but combined for purposes of budget presentation. The three funds include the annual 

enterprise fund, capital fund, and capital reserve fund. The capital reserve fund accounts for 

the new system development fees instituted two years ago. The recommended budget (net 

of internal transfers) for FY 2021 is $8,751,000, a 6.2% decrease over the 2020 budget.  

R E V E N U E S  &  O T H E R  F I N A N C I N G  S O U R C E S  

The Utility Funds’ primary sources of revenue include water and sewer sales, system 

Outside Agencies

2020 

Budget

2021 

Requested

2021 

Recommended

15,286$       25,000$       -$                      

10,000 10,000 10,000

6,500 6,500 6,500

37,600 38,540 38,540

1,000            5,000            2,500                    

70,386$       85,040$       57,540$               

Mebane Historical Museum..................................

United Way ...........................................................

Total.......................................................................

Tommy Long Train Display..................................

Alamance Couunty Arts Council..........................

Alamance County Transportation Authority......



 

12 

development fees, reconnection fees, and intergovernmental revenue. We expect moderate 

growth in system development fees and intergovernmental revenues. We are cautiously 

predicting water and sewer sales with a decrease not only from the crisis but the growing 

prevalence of high-efficiency toilets. With the housing market expected to cool down 

somewhat in 2021, adding fewer new customers than in 2020, we are unsure of the impact 

on the crisis for water usage from restaurants and other small businesses.  Total revenues are 

estimated to grow by $221,415 (3.2%) over this year. System development fees and 

intergovernmental revenues combined are providing $357,855 in new revenue, offset by a 

decline of $140,740 in sales. Appropriated fund balance totals $1,522,815, a reduction of 

$804,585 (34.6%) in the projected use of fund balance from last year . 

P R O P O S E D  F E E  I N C R E A S E  –  D E L A Y E D  T O  J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 1  

Background 
As you may recall, the City completed a Water and Sewer Rate Analysis in 2018 that 

suggested a 5-year graduated increase in rates to offset rising maintenance costs and 

anticipated infrastructure expansion costs associated with the Long-Range Utility Plan 

(LRUP). The City also completed a system development fee analysis to replace the previous 

water and sewer connection fees collected by the City, per state law requirements.  The City 

implemented the system development fees and a 5% water and sewer rate increase in 2019. 

The following table provides the current rate structure: 

In-City Use 

(Outside Rates x2) 
Water Sewer 

2020 $6.11 $6.56 

Utility Fund (Combined) 2019 Actual 2020 Budget

2020 

Estimated

2021

 Projected

Increase 

(Decrease)

% 

Change

Revenues

Sales and Services........................................ 5,882,712$    6,160,520$    5,898,180$    6,019,780$    (140,740)$   (2.3%)

Connection Fees.......................................... 151,200          -                   -                    -                   -                N/A

System Development Fees.......................... 633,826          480,000          850,000          650,000          170,000       35.4% 

Intergovernmental....................................... 173,700           79,000            343,276           266,855          187,855       237.8% 

Permits and Fees.......................................... 102,463          122,250          77,560             71,550             (50,700)        (41.5%)

Investment Earnings.................................... 63,336             20,000            52,500             32,500             12,500         62.5% 

Miscellaneous............................................... 128,414          145,000          172,749           187,500          42,500         29.3% 

Total revenues................................................. 7,135,651       7,006,770       7,394,265       7,228,185       221,415       3.2% 

Other financing sources

Transfers in -                   -                   -                    -                   -                N/A

Debt proceeds -                   -                   -                    -                   -                N/A

Contributed Capital -                   -                   -                    -                   -                N/A

Appropriated fund balance......................... -                   2,327,400      1,121,773        1,522,815       (804,585)     (34.6%)

Total revenues & other financing sources..... 7,135,651$    9,334,170$    8,516,038$    8,751,000$    (583,170)$   (6.2%)



 

13 

Even with that increase, the Utility Fund's excess revenues over expenses declined 

substantially as seen in the following chart.  

  

On top of this, we did not implement the second year of the 5-year scheduled increase in 

water and sewer rates in the current budget year, 2020.  

Water & Sewer Rate Analysis 
During this past year, preliminary engineering reports of the cost of the Water Resource and 

Recovery Facility (WRRF) upgrade increased substantially. With the $5.4 million first phase 

of the expansion set to begin in 2021, we decided to update the rate analysis completed in 

2018. 

The update used the same methodology as the 2018 study, which included (1) the costs of 

water production and distribution; (2) sewer collection and treatment; and (3) capital costs 

of the Long-Range Utility Plan. With the addition of the increased cost for the WRRF 

upgrade, the phased rate increases, coupled with the use of system development fees, 

should reset the Utility Fund’s imbalance and start building needed reserves. The following 

table shows the 5-year proposed rate structure with a 2% increase in the water rate and an 

8% increase in the sewer rate each year. 

In-City Use 

(Outside Rates x2) 
Water (2%/year) Sewer (8%/year) 

2021 $6.23 $7.08 

2022 $6.36 $7.65 

2023 $6.48 $8.26 

2024 $6.61 $8.92 

2025 $6.75 $9.64 

Allowing for average annual capital costs, including major maintenance needs, additional 



 

14 

capacity, and known capital needs, results in a yearly sewer system deficit of over $1.1 

million and a Utility Fund deficit of almost $750,000. These deficits highlight the need to 

consider both near-term and long-term remedies for this funding gap, especially as the City’s 

customer base expands. The combination of this 5-year phased rate increase, along with 

improving operational efficiency, reducing water loss, and reducing inflow and infiltration, 

will reduce, if not eliminate, these existing funding shortfalls. 

Proposed Rate Increase Delayed to January 2021 
Given the difficult times we are facing, I am proposing to implement this rate increase on 

January 1, 2021. Hopefully, by then, we will be on the other side of this crisis or at least 

coming out of it. Delaying the rate increase allows us the flexibility of not implementing the 

rate increase in January if the times warrant against it. Amid this crisis, I have struggled with 

making this recommendation this year; however, we must start the WRRF upgrade, and 

delaying this decision any longer is not financially responsible. 

E X P E N D I T U R E S  &  O T H E R  F I N A N C I N G  U S E S  

BUDGET OVERVIEW 

The combined budget for the Utility Fund, including the Capital Fund and Capital Reserve 

Fund, is proposed at $8,751,000, a 6.2% decrease from the 2020 budget.  

Personnel costs are increasing by 3.0%, almost entirely due to the 2% cost of living 

adjustment and increases in group insurance and retirement rates. The budget also includes 

$618,512 in administrative cost allocations for staff time spent on management, contract 

review, capital planning, purchasing, and accounting for utility projects and functions. The 

retirement contribution rates to N.C. Local Government Retirement System continues to 

increase to sustain the health of the statewide system, according to the State Treasurer. For 

group insurance benefits, we are proposing the same coverage levels as in 2020.  

By delaying equipment purchases and holding the line on most line items, we held the 

increase in operations to 2.8%. The 2021 budget will continue to make progress on the meter 

replacement project, funding for NC119 relocations, and an increase in dewatering expense 

for the WRRF. 

Capital expenditures recommended in the 2021 budget total $1,725,770, including the 

reimbursement for oversizing various water and sewer infrastructure ($175,000). Also, 

Mebane’s 50% share in the Graham Water Treatment facility’s capital improvements is 

$125,000. The ongoing meter replacement project is progressing, and this budget 

Utility Fund (Combined)

2019     

Actual 2020 Budget

2020 

Estimated

2021 

Recommended

Increase 

(Decrease)

% 

Change

Personnel.................................................. 2,120,805$    2,600,132$    2,261,633$    2,677,802$         77,670$       3.0% 

Operations................................................ 3,690,040      3,110,188       3,183,623       3,198,502           88,314          2.8% 

Capital....................................................... 1,249,386      2,402,130      1,362,896       1,725,770            (676,360)      (28.2%)

Debt.......................................................... 856,675          1,221,720      855,386          1,148,926           (72,794)        (6.0%)

Total.......................................................... 7,916,906$    9,334,170$    7,663,538$    8,751,000$         (583,170)$   (6.2%)



 

15 

recommends $440,600 to continue it. Most of the remaining capital outlay is for contingency 

funds to repair and maintain pump stations, water distribution lines, and the sewer collection  

system. 

DEPARTMENT BUDGETS 

The following table contains the recommended budget for each department in the Utility 

Fund compared to the two previous years. Since the last section highlighted the major 

budget items impacting the 2021 recommended budget, as with the General Fund, Appendix 

A provides detailed descriptions of each department's supporting revenues, recommended 

budget, and highlights of important items. 

One expenditure item worth highlighting is the beginning of our expansion of the WRRF. The 

WRRF was last upgraded in 1993, so most of the equipment is over 25 years old. After more 

than two years in engineering and re-engineering studies, we finally received an official 

preliminary engineering report. As a result, we plan to begin Phases 1 and 3 of the project 

this year. Phase 1 will replace aging equipment, improve treatment processes (screening, 

nutrient removal, & residuals handling) as well as taking increased capacity from 2.5 million 

gallons per day (MGD) to 3.0 MGD. The Jordan Lake rules, though delayed again by the 

General Assembly, require treatment to certain nutrient levels. These improvements will 

improve operational efficiency and reduce  objectionable odors occasionally emanating from 

the plant. Phase 3 includes additional improvements for the 3.0 MGD capacity increase. The 

Phase 3 requirements will be evaluated based on the outcome of Phase 1 improvements and 

may be altered based on success. For 2021, we are proposing a bank financing of $5.6 million 

to pay for the construction of these phases over the next few years. Depending on the impact 

of the first phases, future improvements in 2023 and 2024 will total an additional $6.1 

million.  

C O N C L U S I O N  

C O U N C I L  D E L I B E R A T I O N  R E P O R T  

The coronavirus devastated our budget work sessions this year, so the staff was unable to 

collaborate like normal with you. With that in mind, I realize you may have changes you wish 

to propose as we allow the public to review this message for the statutorily required period 

leading up to the public hearing on June 1. With that in mind, Appendix B will enable you to 

see the important budget items requested this year, their cost, the cuts made, and a brief 

note of why I did or did not recommend it. I plan to provide this to you in its Excel spreadsheet 



 

16 

so you can determine the impact of different choices on the tax rate or fund balance 

appropriation. 

F I N A L  T H O U G H T S  

The City continues to provide quality services for its citizens while not increasing its property 

tax rate. As noted, I do not believe our 47-cent rate can sustain the abundance of needs 

expressed by the department heads, as well as the many ideas discussed with staff that never 

even make it on to an agenda. The 2021-2025 Capital Improvement Plan (CIP), to be 

submitted in a separate report this year, shows the visionary plans of the department heads; 

however, outside of the CIP, many other ideas abound. To plan and implement them, we 

must determine which projects to pursue through public discussion and include them in the 

5-year planning process. The City has accomplished great things in the last decade, and as 

we look to the next 10-year horizon, our population will be approaching, if not over, 30,000 

people! This rate of growth demands continuous improvement in how we do business and 

can only improve with your vision leading the way. That combination, your leadership, and 

constant business improvement will create the community you want for the citizens – a 

Positively Charming one! This reminds me of the television series, Friday Night Lights, with 

its tagline "Clear eyes, full hearts, can't lose!" While that's probably from too much binge-

watching during this 7-week quarantine, I would like to conclude with my own tagline!  

Seek the good of the City, 

David S. Cheek 

City Manager  



 

17 

A P P E N D I X  A :  D E P A R T M E N T  B U D G E T S  
 

G E N E R A L  F U N D  

CITY COUNCIL 

 

  



 

18 

ADMINISTRATION 

  



 

19 

FINANCE 

  



 

20 

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

  



 

21 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

  



 

22 

POLICE 

  



 

23 

FIRE 

  



 

24 

PLANNING 

  



 

25 

INSPECTIONS 

  



 

26 

ENGINEERING 

  



 

27 

PUBLIC WORKS 

  



 

28 

PUBLIC FACILITIES 

  



 

29 

SANITATION 

  



 

30 

RECREATION & PARKS 

  



 

31 

NON-DEPARTMENTAL 

  



 

32 

U T I L I T Y  F U N D  

UTILITY ADMINISTRATION 

  



 

33 

UTILITY OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE 

  



 

34 

UTILITY ENGINEERING 

  



 

35 

WATER RESOURCE RECOVERY FACILITY (WRRF) 

  



 

36 

U T I L I T Y  N O N - D E P A R T M E N T A L  

  



 

37 

A P P E N D I X  B  –  2 0 2 1  C O U N C I L  D E L I B E R A T I O N  R E P O R T  

  

2021 Budget

Significant Requests & Manager Recommendations

Department/Area Item Description 2021 Request  Manager Cut 

 Manager 

Recommend Notes

Adminsitration PIO/Downtown Coordinator 116,999$        (86,999)$          30,000$            Funded ongoing contract 

instead of hiring new position

Adminsitration Accounting Tech Position 57,575              (57,575)              -                           No new positions

Adminsitration Municode update 50,000             (50,000)            -                           Deferred for 3rd year in a row

Adminsitration HR Software 14,815              (14,815)             -                           Deferred until new HR Director 

can evaluate Tyler, other apps.

Adminsitration Industry appreciation event 10,878              (10,878)             -                           Innaugural event in 2019 - do 

every other year

Adminsitration Total 250,267          (220,267)         30,000             

All Departments Variety of budget lines cut 107,300           (102,300)          5,000                 Line items evaluated based on 

prior years' spending

All Departments Total 107,300          (102,300)         5,000                

Debt Debt service for PW Vehicles 102,340           -                          102,340             Financing recommended due 

to low interest rates

Debt Debt service for Parks projects 97,240             -                          97,240               Continuing Cates Farm Project; 

financing due to low rates

Debt Debt service Greenway - 1st pmt 72,100              -                          72,100               Continuing MACC-Holt St. 

greenway

Debt Total 271,680         -                         271,680           

Econ. Development Incentives projected 121,850           (121,850)          -                           Re-evaluated companies 

expected to request incentive 

payments

Econ. Development NCCP Signage 45,000             (45,000)            -                           Deferred for 3rd year in a row

Econ. Development Miscellaneous 20,000             (10,000)             10,000               Reduced contingency funding 

in half

Econ. Development Total 186,850         (176,850)         10,000             

Fire Six new positions 463,224           (463,224)          -                           Deferred for 2nd year in a row

Fire Hurst tools 21,357              (21,357)             -                           Deferred to next year

Fire PC & server replacements 14,000             (14,000)             -                           Deferred to next year

Fire Training tower certification 12,500             -                          12,500               Required certification

Fire Replace all pagers 12,045             (6,000)               6,045                 Replace only half of pagers

Fire Three Lieutenants reclassified 11,715              (11,715)              -                           Deferred for 2nd year in a row

Fire Total 534,841         (516,296)        18,545             

Inspections Replacement copier 11,344              -                          11,344               Too many repairs; time to 

replace

Inspections Total 11,344            -                         11,344              

Planning Misc Plan Reviews, Updates 212,000           (81,800)             130,200             Preliminary 40% cut in UDO 

update assuming deadline 

extended

Planning Main Street Program Fees 5,000                -                          5,000                 Required as part of the 

program

Planning  Total 217,000          (81,800)           135,200           

Police Five new positions 569,553           (569,553)          -                           No new positions

Police C-Comm, Pet Acoption Ctr. 204,043           (27,650)             176,393             Since Graham dropped C-

Comm, County held fees level

Police Three replacement vehicles 178,524           -                          178,524             Determined to be essential 

replacements



 

38 

  



 

39 

 
 

 

Department/Area Item Description 2021 Request  Manager Cut 

 Manager 

Recommend Notes

Recreation Misc Small Equipment 22,999             (15,000)             7,999                 Swings, miscellaneous 

equipment deferred

Recreation Social Media 22,525             -                          22,525               COVID-19 crisis has shown us 

the need to expand our efforts

Recreation PIO Position contract 20,000             -                          20,000               Since PIO no recommended, 

continue contracted PIO at 2/3

Recreation Uniforms & equipment 15,000             -                          15,000               Nice program improvement by 

new director

Recreation Amphitheater Band Shell 5,000                (5,000)               -                           Design & project delayed due 

to COVID-19 crisis

Recreation Total 2,762,834     (834,140)        1,928,694      

Salaries & Benefits Cost of living adjustment 175,311            -                          175,311$           2% cost of living recommended

Salaries & Benefits Merit Pay Plan 148,895           (148,895)          -                           Cutting the merit pay in an 

effort to save funds, in light of 

crisis

Salaries & Benefits Retirement System Rate Increase 102,893           -                          102,893             Required by law

Salaries & Benefits Total 427,099         (148,895)        278,204           

Sanitation Swap Loader Leaf Truck 270,000           -                          270,000            3 leaf trucks were down at one 

point this year - needed

Sanitation Vehicle maintenance 175,000           (40,000)            135,000             Reduced based on past usage

Sanitation Brush Truck 160,000           -                          160,000            Replacement truck needed

Sanitation Recycling contract fee increase 85,000             -                          85,000               Due to recycling crisis - 

increased per continuing 

contract

Sanitation Total 690,000         (40,000)           650,000           

Grand Total 8,143,548$   (3,002,178)$  5,141,370$     



 

 
  

2021-2025 

David S. Cheek 

City Manager 

May 4, 2020 

Capital Improvement Plan 



 

C O N T E N T S  

Overview ............................................................................................................................................................... 1 

The CIP as a Planning Tool ................................................................................................................................. 2 

The Current Year of the CIP – 2021 ....................................................................................................................... 2 

City-wide Space Needs Assessment .................................................................................................................. 2 

Proposed New CIP Fiscal Policy ......................................................................................................................... 3 

New Project Prioritization System ..................................................................................................................... 3 

Criteria Categories ......................................................................................................................................... 5 

Level of Funding ............................................................................................................................................ 5 

Manager Recommendation – 2021 ................................................................................................................... 5 

General Fund ................................................................................................................................................. 5 

Utility Fund ............................................................................................................................................................ 7 

WRRF Upgrade & Expansion.............................................................................................................................. 7 

Graham WRRF Partnership Agreement ............................................................................................................. 7 

Conclusion ............................................................................................................................................................. 8 

Appendix A ............................................................................................................................................................ 9 

General Fund Summary ..................................................................................................................................... 9 

Utility Fund Summary ...................................................................................................................................... 10 

 



1 

 

C A P I T A L  I M P R O V E M E N T  P L A N  

May 4, 2020 

Mayor and City Councilmembers 

City of Mebane, North Carolina 

Dear Mayor and Councilmembers, 

The Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) for 2021-2025 is a robust appraisal of the significant needs 

expressed by the City’s department heads for the next five years. As highlighted in the budget 

message for 2021, the next five years will be pivotal in carrying out the vision of the City Council.  

O V E R V I E W  

The plan identifies needs in the amount of $81.0 million, with General Fund needs of $49.8 

million and Utility Fund needs of $31.2 million. Over $16.9 million of the projects will be funded 

by general fund revenues and utility fund revenues (21%). Most of the remaining $62.8 million 

in projects will be funded by some sort of financing which might include a bond referendum or 

installment purchase agreements (bank loans). The total amount includes projects in progress 

as shown in the Pre-2021 column. As mentioned in the budget message, the City will be unable 

to fund these kinds of projected needs at the current tax rate. 

 

 



2 

The CIP for 2021-2025 is full of various projects with significant details to provide the reader with 

a basis for decision-making. Each department head completed a CIP Project Worksheet for any 

qualifying capital improvement. A capital improvement is defined as any expenditure for 

vehicles, equipment, buildings, infrastructure, land acquisition, plan or project in which the cost 

exceeds $25,000 and the estimated useful life is greater than 1 year. This will also include repair 

and renovation projects that have a useful life of more than 1 year including street maintenance 

and repair, and utility maintenance and repair. Summary schedules of the total CIP for 2021-

2025 are provided in Appendix A. Individual project sheets will be provided upon request to the 

Finance Department.  

T H E  C I P  A S  A  P L A N N I N G  T O O L  

The 5-Year CIP is a planning tool designed to aid the City Council in building, acquiring and 

replacing the City’s capital assets. The plan is updated annually to ensure that it is based on the 

most accurate information available and is reflective of the current and projected economic 

environment. Adoption of the 5-Year CIP by the City Council does not constitute a commitment 

to fund an item. Rather, adoption signifies an intention to pursue the projects during the ensuing 

years. Especially for the requested facilities, the adoption of the CIP allows both the Council and 

staff to thoughtfully plan for the projects leading up to a planned year of design followed by 

construction, along with the appropriate financing. Over 72% or $58.5 million of the CIP has been 

either deferred or is not planned until the last three years (2023-2025). The remaining needs 

($22.5 million) are coming up quickly, so plans for these projects need to be getting underway 

as soon as we see that we are coming out of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 

T H E  C U R R E N T  Y E A R  O F  T H E  C I P  –  2 0 2 1  

C I T Y - W I D E  S P A C E  N E E D S  A S S E S S M E N T  

As the City prepares for mounting growth, a police station ($15.4 million) and two new fire 

stations ($8.5 million) make their inaugural debut into the plan. The police station was requested 

for the current year, and the fire stations for 2023 and 2025. In addition, Planning and Inspections 

have been in dire need of space for the past two years, and are requesting a $910,000 building 

$.9 $2.3 $3.8

$10.3
$7.1

$25.4

$49.8

$2.3

$9.6

$3.5 $3.1

$9.1
$3.6

$31.2

PRE-2021 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025  TOTAL

CIP 2021-2025
In Millions

General Fund Utility Fund



3 

addition for the 2021 year. With the expected domino effect that occurs when constructing new 

facilities and freeing up old facilities, I am recommending a City-wide Space Needs Assessment 

this year for $110,000. The last time the City did such an assessment was twenty years ago in 

2000. The feasibility as well as the need for these significant projects can best be determined by 

this type of study. I recommend the study forecast a 10-year horizon and provide the following 

at a minimum: 

1. Identify and assess current space occupied by City departments and agencies (including 

the Train Group and the Mebane Historical Museum). 

2. Identify and assess each department’s or agency’s current space, current space needs, 

and identified space deficits. 

3. Project future space needs based on assessing population projections and determining 

employee needs by department. 

4. Prioritize needs based on (1) the identified space deficit; (2) the greatest need; and (3) 

functionality, responsibilities assigned, and efficiency of operations. 

5. Recommend a 10-year plan of action based on these priorities. 

6. Estimate the probable costs of the study’s recommendations. 

I recommend the study begin as soon as feasible considering the challenges with the COVID-19 

crisis. In the meantime, for the immediate needs of Planning and Inspections, we plan to share 

space in City Hall to provided needed filing, storage and office space. 

P R O P O S E D  N E W  C I P  F I S C A L  P O L I C Y  

The City currently has no fiscal policy as relates to the CIP. This year we are recommending the 
following policies be adopted by the City Council in order to guide and direct a more thorough 
planning process alongside each year’s budget: 

• The City will prioritize all capital improvements in accordance with an adopted Capital 

Improvement Plan (CIP). 

• The City will develop a five-year plan for capital improvements and review capital 

improvements and update annually. 

• The City will coordinate development of the capital improvements program with 

development of the operating budget. 

• The City will maintain all its assets at a level adequate to protect the City’s capital 

investment and to minimize future maintenance and replacement costs. 

• The City will identify the estimated costs and potential funding sources for each capital 

project proposal before it is submitted for approval. 

• The City will attempt to determine the least costly and most flexible method for all new 

projects. 

N E W  P R O J E C T  P R I O R I T I Z A T I O N  S Y S T E M  

As you begin to review this document, please remember that needs over the next five years and 

beyond are identified. After year one, it becomes more difficult to project reliable costs, which 

is why we update the plan annually. This year, we began ranking projects based on a 



4 

prioritization system. The department heads and I worked together to rank each project; 

however, it is important to note the Board has final authority in the rankings of the projects. 

Again, no projects were eliminated during the process, only deferred. As the City practices this 

prioritization in the coming years, the CIP will take on a more important role in the annual 

budget process. 

The priority system includes a matrix as shown below. This system was developed to assist in 

the setting of priorities for capital expenditures because not all requests can be funded in any 

given year due to budgetary constraints. 

PRIORITIZATION 
MATRIX 

Priority 

High Medium Low 

C
ri

te
ri

a 

1 Level A   

2  Level B  

3   Level C 

4    

The matrix contains a measure of priority on the horizontal axis and a determination of criteria 

category on the vertical axis. Priorities of the capital projects are measured as high, medium or 

low as follows: 

 

HIGH

•Project mandated by 
local, state, or federal 
regulations, or

•Project is a high 
priority of the City 
Council, or

•Project substantially 
reduces losses or 
increases revenues.

MEDIUM

•Project maintains 
existing service levels, 
or

•Project results in better 
efficiency or service 
delivery, or

•Project reduces 
operational costs, or

•Project improves work 
force morale.

LOW

•Project is not 
mandated, or

•Project improves 
service levels, or

•Project improves 
quality of life.



5 

CRITERIA CATEGORIES 

Each project is determined to fall into one of these criteria categories:  

 

LEVEL OF FUNDING 

The grid is further divided into levels to determine consideration for funding as noted in each of 

the shaded areas above. 

Level A – highest consideration for funding, 

Level B – moderate consideration, and 

Level C – least consideration for funding resources. 

These levels of funding can be considered as part of the decision to fund a project. For 

instance, let’s say Project A is mandated by local, state, or federal regulations (Priority = H), 

and provides for the maintenance of existing systems and equipment (Criteria = 2), then it 

receives a moderate consideration for funding (Level of Funding = B). On the other hand, 

Project B allows for the expansion of services (Criteria = 3), but is not mandated (Priority = 

L), would receive a low consideration for funding (Level of Fund = C). Of course, this priority 

ranking is always subject to the Council’s willingness to fund based on current economi c 

conditions and barring any funding constraints. In addition, some projects will not neatly fall 

into these categories. Many factors go into the final decision to fund a project, and this is 

only one mechanism to assist in guiding that decision. 

M A N A G E R  R E C O M M E N D A T I O N  –  2 0 2 1  

For the first year of this plan (2021), the funding requests submitted by department heads total 

$29.2 million, including $19.6 million in needs for the General Fund and $9.6 million in Utility 

Fund requests. Included in my 2021 recommended budget is $9.1 million of these requested 

needs. 

GENERAL FUND 

I am recommending $2.3 million of the General Fund needs and all the Utility Fund requests be 

pursued during 2021. With my current year recommendations, I am not eliminating any projects, 

Health/Safety/Welfare – projects that protect the health, safety 
and welfare of the community and the employees serving it.

Maintenance/Replacement – projects that provide for the 
maintenance of existing systems and equipment.

Expansion of Existing Programs – projects which enhance the 
existing systems and programs allowing for expansion of existing 
services.

Expansion of New Programs – projects that allow for expansion 
into new programs and services.



6 

but only deferring them into the next four years of the plan. The following General Fund table 

shows each department’s request for funding in 2021, my recommendation, as well as the status 

or reason for my recommendation. It is evident that we are deferring many needs due to fiscal 

constraints that center not only around the current global pandemic, but also around our current 

tax rate.  

 



7 

U T I L I T Y  F U N D  

Of the $9.6 million in department requests for the Utility Fund, I am recommending $6.9 

million.  

 

W R R F  U P G R A D E  &  E X P A N S I O N  

With the WRRF’s last upgrade in 1993, most of the equipment is over 25 years old. We 

continue to modernize equipment in the facility, but the main highlight is the continuation 

of our expansion of the WRRF. Phase 2 was completed in 2019 and included the extension of 

the floodwall for $750,000. After more than two years in engineering and re-engineering 

studies, we received the final addendum to the official preliminary engineering report. As a 

result, we plan to begin Phases 1 and 3 this year. Phase 1 will replace aging equipment, 

improve treatment processes (screening, nutrient removal, & residuals handling) as well as 

increasing capacity from 2.5 million gallons per day (MGD) to 3.0 MGD. Though delayed 

again by the General Assembly, the Jordan Lake rules will eventually be passed and require 

treatment to required nutrient levels. These improvements will address these rules and 

improve operational efficiency and reduce objectionable odors occasionally emanating from 

the plant. Phase 3 includes additional enhancements to the 3.0 MGD capacity increase. The 

Phase 3 requirements will be evaluated based on the outcome of Phase 1 improvements and 

may be altered based on success. For 2021, we are proposing a bank financing of $5.6 million 

to pay for the construction of these phases over the next few years. Depending on the impact 

of the first phases, future improvements in 2023 and 2024 could total an additional $6.1 

million.  

G R A H A M  W R R F  P A R T N E R S H I P  A G R E E M E N T  

The City of Graham is also considering an upgrade to their WRRF. While it does not impact 



8 

the budget this year, our partnership with the City of Graham on their WRRF began in 2017 

when we agreed to purchase almost 22% of their WRRF capacity. Not included in the Utility 

CIP are potential payments to Graham for future capacity at their WRRF. Graham is where 

Mebane was one year ago in planning an upgrade and flow expansion to their WRRF, likely 

to occur in the next two years. This may be an opportunity for Mebane as it would cost less 

to send sewer to Graham from the southwestern side of the City instead of pumping it to our 

WRRF. Our agreement with Graham allows treatment of up to 750,000 gallons per day (GPD) 

of sewer. Staff believes it is in Mebane’s best interest to approach Graham about increasing 

the treatment capacity by 500,000 GPD. As part of their planning process, staff has 

requested cost estimates for a possible increase in our level of participation. Any increase in 

the treatment capacity will require an amendment to our partnership agreement. 

C O N C L U S I O N  

The CIP is a solid plan and has been prepared with the goals of the City Council in mind. Mebane 

is growing and must plan for more residents, industries, and commercial businesses in a quickly 

arriving future! By careful planning and thoughtful investment, a bigger Mebane can be a more 

positively charming Mebane as well!  

Seek the good of the City! 

David S. Cheek 

City Manager  



9 

A P P E N D I X  A  

G E N E R A L  F U N D  S U M M A R Y  

  



10 

U T I L I T Y  F U N D  S U M M A R Y  

 
 

 



Mebane Fire Dept. Monthly Report

February Year to Date % Change from 2019

Structural Response
Totals 15 39 -19%

Average Personnel Per Response 12 12
Average Volunteer Response 4 3

Totals 57 103 11%

Total Fire Response 72 142 1%

Location  (Year to Date) North South
Total Number/Precentage 72/51% 70/49%

North South
Average Fire Response Time 5:02 6:29

Precentage of Calls Inside City 54% 58%
Precentage of Calls Outside City 35% 31%
Precentage of Calls for Mutual Aid 11% 11%

EMT Response 175 312 -5%

Location  (Year to Date) North South
Total Number/ Precentage 147/47% 165/53%

CPS Seats Checked 24 55
Seats Distributed 0 0
Smoke Alarms Checked/Installed 1 8
Station Tours/Programs 2 4
# of Participants 40 80
Events Conducted/Attended 1 2

Non Structural Responses



Mebane Fire Dept. Monthly Report

March Year to Date % Change from 2019

Structural Response
Totals 15 54 1%

Average Personnel Per Response 12 12
Average Volunteer Response 4 4

Totals 62 165 11%

Total Fire Response 77 219 9%

Location  (Year to Date) North South
Total Number/Precentage 113/52% 106/48%

North South
Average Fire Response Time 5:28 6:19

Precentage of Calls Inside City 41% 53%
Precentage of Calls Outside City 38% 33%
Precentage of Calls for Mutual Aid 21% 13%

EMT Response 124 436 -10%

Location  (Year to Date) North South
Total Number/ Precentage 215/49% 221/51%

CPS Seats Checked 12 67
Seats Distributed 0 0
Smoke Alarms Checked/Installed 3 11
Station Tours/Programs 0 4
# of Participants 0 80
Events Conducted/Attended 1 3

Non Structural Responses


	1 Virtual Meeting Guidelines- No Public Hearings final
	Agenda- May 4, 2020
	Item 2- Summary Sheet - Remote Participation Policy
	Remote Participation Policy DRAFT
	Open Meetings - Josh Stein Advisory Letter

	Item 4a- Approval of Minutes- March 2, 2020 DRAFT
	Item 4b- Summary Sheet- Annexation Petition- The White House- C. Meador
	Annexation Petition- The White House- C. Meador
	Certificate of Sufficiency- The White House- C. Meador
	Annexation Plat- The White House C. Meador
	Resolution Setting a Date of Public Hearing- The White House- C. Meador

	Item 4c- Summary Sheet- Petition for Voluntary Contiguous Annexation- Mebane Oaks Lot 3- Greg Spears
	Annexation Petition Mebane Oaks Lot 3- Greg Spears
	Certficiate of Sufficiency- Mebane Oaks Lot 3- Greg Spears
	Annexation Plat- Mebane Oaks Lot 3- Greg Spears
	Resolution Setting a Date of Public Hearing- Annexation- Mebane Oaks Lot 3- Greg Spears

	Item 4d- Summary Sheet - Emerson Drive Access Easement Removal
	Emerson Drive Lots 55 & 56 Recombination Plat

	Item 4e- Summary Sheet- Audit Contract
	Contract to Audit Accounts
	Engagement Letter & Peer Review

	Item 5- Budget Message 2021 - Final for Agenda 04302020
	Item 6- Capital Improvement Plan 2021-25 - Final for Agenda-signed
	MFD Report February-20
	MFD Report March-20

